

DOCKET**07-OIIP-1**

DATE FEB 28 2008

RECD. FEB 29 2008

**BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION
OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA AND THE
CALIFORNIA ENERGY COMMISSION**

Order Instituting Rulemaking to Implement the
Commission's Procurement Incentive
Framework and to Examine the Integration of
Greenhouse Gas Emission Standards into
Procurement Policies.

Rulemaking 06-04-009
(Filed April 13, 2006)

Order Instituting Informational Proceeding –
AB 32.

CEC Docket No. 07-OIIP-01

**SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA PUBLIC POWER AUTHORITY
COMMENT ON PROPOSED DECISION**

Norman A. Pedersen, Esq.
HANNA AND MORTON LLP
444 South Flower Street, Suite 1500
Los Angeles, California 90071-2916
Telephone: (213) 430-2510
Facsimile: (213) 623-3379
E-mail: npedersen@hanmor.com

Attorney for the **SOUTHERN
CALIFORNIA PUBLIC POWER
AUTHORITY**

Dated: February 28, 2008

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I.	THE PD ESTABLISHES TWO REGULATORY PROGRAMS WITH TWO DISTINCT POINTS OF REGULATION.	2
A.	The Direct Mandatory/Regulatory Program and Its Impact on Retail Providers.....	2
B.	The Cap-and-Trade Program and Its Impact on Deliverers.....	3
1.	The Rationale for Requiring “Deliverers” to Participate in the Multi-Sector Cap-and-Trade Program Is Unclear.	3
2.	The Consequence of Requiring “Deliverers” to Participate in the Multi-Sector Cap-and-Trade Program Is Clear and Adverse.....	4
C.	Imposing <i>both</i> the Mandatory Regulatory Program <i>and</i> the Cap-and-Trade Program Would Impose a Double Burden on Retail Providers that Are Also “Deliverers” of Electricity.....	4
II.	THE PD SHOULD BE REVISED TO ADOPT THE COMPREHENSIVE RETAIL PROVIDER PROGRAM PROPOSED BY SCPPA AND TO REJECT “DELIVERERS” AS THE ELECTRICITY SECTOR PARTICIPANTS IN A MULTI-SECTOR CAP-AND-TRADE PROGRAM.	5
A.	The PD Errs by Failing to Evaluate the Point-of-Regulation Options on the Basis of Fairness.	6
B.	The PD Errs by Failing to Evaluate the Point-of-Regulation Options on the Basis of Cost-Effectiveness.	7
C.	The PD Commits Legal and Factual Error in Evaluating the “Deliverer” Option on the Basis of the PD’s Selected Criteria.	8
1.	Legality.....	8
2.	Compatibility with Wholesale and Retail Energy Market Reforms.....	9
3.	Accuracy and Ease of Reporting, Tracking, and Verifying Emissions	10
4.	Expandability and Compatibility	10
D.	SCPPA’s Recommendation: Revise the PD to Reverse the Selection of the Deliverer Option.	11

III.	IF THE COMMISSIONS DECLINE TO REVISE THE PD TO ADOPT RETAIL PROVIDERS AS THE POINT OF REGULATION FOR THE CAP-AND-TRADE PROGRAM, THE COMMISSIONS SHOULD CONSIDER DEFERRAL OF THE CAP-AND-TRADE PROGRAM UNTIL THE PROGRAM CAN BE ESTABLISHED ON A WEST-WIDE OR NATIONAL BASIS.	11
IV.	IF THE COMMISSIONS DECLINE TO REVISE THE PD TO ADOPT RETAIL PROVIDERS AS THE POINT OF REGULATION FOR THE CAP-AND-TRADE PROGRAM OR TO DEFER THE CAP-AND-TRADE PROGRAM, THE PD SHOULD BE REVISED TO PROVIDE FOR AN ALTERNATIVE COMPLIANCE OPTION FOR RETAIL PROVIDERS THAT ARE ALSO DELIVERERS.....	12
V.	THE NATURAL GAS SECTOR SHOULD BE INCLUDED IN ANY MULTI-SECTOR CAP-AND-TRADE PROGRAM.....	13
VI.	CONCLUSION	14

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

<i>Pike v. Bruce Church, Inc.</i> , 397 US 137, 142 (1970)	8
--	---

Statutes

Cal. H&S Code § 38561(a) (emphasis added).....	7
Cal. H&S Code § 38562(b) (1)	7

Other Authorities

Congressional Budget Office (April 25, 2007).....	8
Public Utilities Fortnightly at 26 (May, 2007).....	7

**BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION
OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA AND THE
CALIFORNIA ENERGY COMMISSION**

Order Instituting Rulemaking to Implement the Commission's Procurement Incentive Framework and to Examine the Integration of Greenhouse Gas Emission Standards into Procurement Policies.

Rulemaking 06-04-009
(Filed April 13, 2006)

Order Instituting Informational Proceeding – AB 32.

CEC Docket No. 07-OIIP-01

**SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA PUBLIC POWER AUTHORITY
COMMENT ON PROPOSED DECISION**

In accordance with Rule 14.3 of the Rules of Practice and Procedure of the California Utilities Commission ("CPUC"), the Southern California Public Power Authority ("SCPPA") respectfully submits this comment on the Proposed Decision ("PD") mailed in the captioned proceeding on February 8, 2008. This comment is being submitted simultaneously to both the CPUC and the California Energy Commission ("CEC") (jointly, "Commissions").

For the reasons discussed below, SCPPA recommends that the PD be revised to designate retail providers rather than "deliverers" as the points of regulation for a cap-and-trade program, consistent with SCPPA's overall recommendation throughout this proceeding. If the Commissions decline to make that revision, then SCPPA recommends that implementation of a cap-and-trade program be deferred until a west-wide or a national program can be implemented. Absent deferral, SCPPA recommends adoption of an alternative compliance mechanism to allow retail providers that are also "deliverers" of electricity to elect to mitigate the double burden of paying for programs to reduce GHG emissions while simultaneously paying for allowances. Retail providers that are also deliverers who elect to be regulated under the alternative compliance mechanism would be subject to entity-specific caps on emissions associated with

deliveries for service to native load and would not be required to acquire allowances to cover emissions under their caps.

I. THE PD ESTABLISHES TWO REGULATORY PROGRAMS WITH TWO DISTINCT POINTS OF REGULATION.

Under the PD, the Commissions would recommend that the California Air Resources Board (“CARB”) adopt *two* distinct programs for achieving greenhouse gas (“GHG”) reductions in the electricity sector to meet Assembly Bill (“AB”) 32 goals. One program would impose “direct mandatory/regulatory requirements” on all retail providers in California. PD at 27. The second program would apply to “deliverers” of electricity into the California grid. PD at 3. Deliverers of electricity would be included in a “multi-sector cap-and-trade program” so as to be required to acquire allowances to cover their GHG emissions. PD at 3.

A. The Direct Mandatory/Regulatory Program and Its Impact on Retail Providers.

The direct mandatory/regulatory program would impose an obligation on retail providers to achieve GHG reductions programmatically. Retail providers would be required to achieve “mandatory levels of energy efficiency savings.” PD at 29. Likewise, retail providers would be required to meet heightened renewable portfolio standards. PD at 30. Lastly, retail providers would continue to be subject to an Emissions Performance Standard. PD at 27. The PD is emphatic that “all retail providers of electricity, including IOUs, POU, ESPs, and CCAs,” should be subject to “the same minimum requirements in the areas of energy efficiency and renewables.” PD at 29.

SCPPA members are fully committed to achieving AB 32 GHG emission reduction goals, and they are fully committed to attaining high levels of energy efficiency savings and renewable electricity delivered. For renewable electricity, the PD proposes that “ARB require the POU to deliver at least 20 percent renewable electricity to their customers by...2015 or 2017.” PD at 29. The SCPPA members committed themselves *in 2003*, five years ago, to achieve a 20 percent renewable portfolio standard by 2017. Individual SCPPA members have adopted more aggressive timetables. For example, Burbank and Riverside are committed to achieving the 33 percent standard by 2020.

The cost of meeting the energy efficiency targets and renewable portfolio standards that would be mandated for retail providers under the direct regulatory program envisioned in the PD

will be high for the SCPA members. As a result of their geographical and historical circumstances, SCPA and its members are encumbered by legacy electrical generation resources that are substantially carbon-based. SCPA is now procuring wind energy, geothermal energy, solar-thermal energy, and biomethane-based energy. The steps that will be required to meet energy efficiency and renewable portfolio goals will impose hundreds of millions of dollars of additional costs on the SCPA members and their customers annually.

B. The Cap-and-Trade Program and Its Impact on Deliverers.

In addition to imposing programmatic mandates on retail providers to achieve GHG emission reductions, the PD would include “deliverers” of electricity in a multi-sector cap-and-trade program. “Deliverers” would “include generators, retail providers, marketers, and any other types of entities that deliver power to the California grid.” PD at 66.

1. The Rationale for Requiring “Deliverers” to Participate in the Multi-Sector Cap-and-Trade Program Is Unclear.

The PD’s rationale for requiring “deliverers” to participate in the multi-sector cap-and-trade program is unclear. The PD says that deliverers would be required to participate in the multi-sector cap-and-trade program “for a number of policy reasons.” PD at 32. One reason is that requiring deliverers to participate in the multi-sector cap-and-trade program would achieve emission reductions that would be additional to those that would be produced by the imposition of programmatic mandates on retail providers. PD at 32. However, the PD itself forecasts that the additional emission reductions that would result from requiring deliverers to participate in a multi-sector cap-and-trade program will be minimal. PD at 32.

A second reason given in the PD for requiring “deliverers” to participate in a multi-sector cap-and-trade program is that “emissions trading maximizes the flexibility in achieving emissions targets by allowing obligated entities to rely on the least-cost options across the entire economy.” PD at 32. However, under the multi-sector cap-and-trade program anticipated by the PD, while there will be an emissions target for the California economy as a whole, there will be no emissions target for any individual “obligated entity.” If there are no entity-specific targets, it is unclear what it means to say that “emissions trading maximizes the flexibility in achieving emissions targets.”

A third reason for requiring “deliverers” to participate in a multi-sector cap-and-trade program is that it would allow “market participants to manage risk associated with compliance obligations.” PD at 32. That rationale would certainly not apply to retail providers that would be required to attain energy efficiency or renewable portfolio targets. Requiring deliverers to acquire allowances to cover their GHG emissions will impose a new risk on deliverers without helping retail providers to manage the risk of having mandatory energy efficiency or renewables targets imposed on them.

The reasons advanced in the PD for requiring “deliverers” to participate in a multi-sector cap-and-trade program are suspect. None are cogent.

2. The Consequence of Requiring “Deliverers” to Participate in the Multi-Sector Cap-and-Trade Program Is Clear and Adverse.

Although the PD’s rationale is unclear, the consequence of requiring deliverers to participate in a multi-sector cap-and-trade program is clear. Deliverers would be required to hold allowances equivalent to the emissions associated with the electricity that they deliver to the California grid. To the extent to which the deliverers are required to buy allowances either through an auction or through secondary market transactions, the deliverers will incur increased out-of-pocket costs. The cost of allowances for deliverers is likely to be substantial. At \$25 per ton, the cost of allowances to cover emissions associated with serving forecasted 2008 California load would be over \$2 billion. *See* SCPPA Supplement to Opening Comment at 2 (Nov. 14, 2007). At \$50 per ton, the cost would double to over \$4 billion. That would be for *one year alone*. *Ibid*.

C. Imposing *both* the Mandatory Regulatory Program *and* the Cap-and-Trade Program Would Impose a Double Burden on Retail Providers that Are Also “Deliverers” of Electricity.

The PD’s imposition of the direct regulatory program on retail providers and the simultaneous imposition of the cap-and-trade program on deliverers would be likely to have a profound cost impact on entities that are *both* retail providers *and* deliverers, particularly fully-resourced publicly-owned utilities (“POUs”). Publicly-owned utilities such as the SCPPA members tend to be fully resourced. As a result, they would be “deliverers” of electricity to the California grid for all or nearly all of the electricity that they deliver to their retail customers. Thus, they would be fully exposed to being required to incur *both* the cost of the direct

regulatory program that would be imposed upon them as retail providers by the PD *and* the full cost of acquiring allowances to cover their emissions as “deliverers” of electricity.

For southern California publicly-owned utilities, the cost of auctioned allowances would be over \$700 million per year, based on 2008 projected emissions at \$25 per ton. The cost would be over \$1.4 billion per year if auctioned allowances cost \$50 per ton. *Ibid* at 3. The payments for emission allowances would represent an additional cost to the POUs that would not contribute in any way to reducing their earlier footprint. The money spent on allowances would represent nothing more than a wealth transfer away from the POUs to whomever might receive auction proceeds.

II. THE PD SHOULD BE REVISED TO ADOPT THE COMPREHENSIVE RETAIL PROVIDER PROGRAM PROPOSED BY SCPPA AND TO REJECT “DELIVERERS” AS THE ELECTRICITY SECTOR PARTICIPANTS IN A MULTI-SECTOR CAP-AND-TRADE PROGRAM.

SCPPA has consistently recommended a comprehensive program for the electricity sector in this proceeding that would avoid the punitive consequences that would be likely to flow from the program proposed in the PD. SCPPA’s proposal builds upon the foundation laid by the CPUC in its landmark D.06-02-032 and by CPUC President Peevey in his February 2, 2007 Scoping Memo.

SCPPA recommends that the Commissions adopt a GHG regulatory program for the electricity sector in which regulated retail providers would be the point of regulation for both the imposition of programmatic mandates and for participation in a multi-sector cap-and-trade program. Allowances would be allocated to the retail providers for the benefit of the retail providers’ customers, with the allocation of allowances being based upon pre-AB 32 actual experienced emissions and with the amount of allowances that are allocated to each retail provider for each successive compliance period being reduced over time as necessary to achieve AB 32 GHG emission reduction targets for the electric sector and for each retail provider individually by 2020. SCPPA also supports consideration of the “flexible compliance mechanisms” that were envisioned by the CPUC in D.06-02-032, including the allowance trading, banking, borrowing, and appropriate offsets. *See* SCPPA Reply Comment at 3 (Dec. 17, 2007).

Contrary to SCPPA’s recommendation, the PD designates “deliverers” as the electricity sector participants in a multi-sector cap-and-trade program rather than retail providers. The PD justifies by evaluating each point-of-regulation option in light of five criteria:

1. Environmental integrity.
2. Compatibility with/expandability to potential regional and/or national GHG emissions cap-and-trade markets.
3. Accuracy and ease of reporting, tracking, and verifying GHG emission reductions.
4. Compatibility with ongoing reforms of wholesale and retail energy markets.
5. Legal issues.

PD at 53-54. The PD errs by not taking into account other criteria, at least two of which – fairness and cost minimization– should be given paramount priority. Further, the PD errs in how it applies the criteria that it does take into account.

A. The PD Errs by Failing to Evaluate the Point-of-Regulation Options on the Basis of Fairness.

The PD errs by not giving any weight to fairness in evaluating the options for the electric sector point of regulation. In the view of the Market Advisory Committee (“MAC”), fairness was one of the four fundamental objectives for a GHG reduction program. The MAC defined “fairness” as “assuring that the program avoids causing environmental harm to particular communities, and *assuring that compliance costs are spread equitably across sectors and regions.*” MAC Report at 18. Fairness should hold a paramount place of importance in deliberations of any regulatory agency, including the Commissions.

The objective of fairness requires that compliance costs of any GHG regulatory program should be spread equitably across sectors, regions, and communities. It would be unfair for the Commissions to concoct a program that would require particular sectors, regions, and communities that, due to historical and geographical circumstances, face the greatest challenges and costs in meeting GHG reduction goals, to simultaneously transfer wealth to others. However, that is precisely what would be likely to happen if retail providers that are fully resourced are designated as being “deliverers” and are required to buy allowances while simultaneously being required to take all the actions that will be necessary to reduce their carbon footprint. The money paid for allowances would be likely to be transferred to others, unfairly leaving the most challenged communities to meet the greatest proportional burden of mitigating

GHG emissions with substantially reduced financial resources. The designation of “deliverers” is the first step of a wealth transfer scheme and should be evaluated on that basis.

B. The PD Errs by Failing to Evaluate the Point-of-Regulation Options on the Basis of Cost-Effectiveness.

A second criteria that should be at or near the top of the list of criteria along with fairness is cost-effectiveness. The MAC properly observed that a GHG program “must be fair *and cost effective* while bringing about real emission reductions.” MAC Report at 11 (emphasis added).

The Commissions do not have discretion about evaluating the GHG emissions reduction program on the basis of cost-effectiveness. AB 32 *requires* such an evaluation. While AB 32 mandates a reduction in California’s GHG emissions to 1990 levels by 2020, AB 32 also requires that the reductions shall be “implemented in an *efficient and cost-effective* manner.” Cal. H&S Code § 38561(a) (emphasis added). AB 32 requires CARB to adopt GHG “emission reduction measures by regulation to achieve the maximum technologically feasible and *cost-effective* reductions in greenhouse gas emissions....” Cal. H&S Code § 38562(a) (emphasis added). CARB shall “[d]esign the regulations, including distribution of emissions allowances where appropriate, in a manner that is equitable, seeks to *minimize* costs and maximize the total benefits to California....” Cal. H&S Code § 38562(b) (1) (emphasis added).

Designating deliverers as the point of regulation will unnecessarily lead to higher wholesale electricity rates. As deliverers are required to buy emission allowances, the deliverers will embed the cost of the allowances in their price for electricity. Further, to the extent to which the *marginal* deliverers raise electricity prices to recover the cost of GHG emission allowances, *inframarginal* deliverers will raise their wholesale prices for electricity, particularly in the short-term (real time or day-ahead) market. SCPPA Opening Comment (Dec. 3, 2007); “The Change in Profit Climate,” Victor Niemeyer, Electric Power Research Institute (“EPRI”), Public Utilities Fortnightly at 26 (May, 2007). EPRI found that in the Midwest, imposing an emission allowance of \$50 per ton on generators could more than *double* the wholesale price of electricity. *Ibid.*

The PD’s error is further compounded as a result of the fact that the criterion of cost minimization intersects with the criterion of fairness. By selecting an option that raises electricity costs as would be likely to result under the “deliverer” approach, the PD contravenes the criterion of fairness as well as cost-effectiveness. Increases in electricity prices are

regressive. Poor households would bear a larger burden relative to the incomes of wealthier households. *See* SCPPA Opening Comment at 12-13 (October 31, 2007); *Tradeoffs in Allocating Allowances for CO₂ Allowances*, Economic and Budget Brief, at 3; Congressional Budget Office (April 25, 2007). The regressive impact of the PD's program would be unfair.

The adverse impact of the GHG program on wholesale electricity prices could be substantially avoided for short-term (real time or day ahead) wholesale transactions if retail providers were selected as the point of regulation as opposed to deliverers. Deliverers would not be required to acquire allowances if retail providers were the point of regulation.

C. The PD Commits Legal and Factual Error in Evaluating the “Deliverer” Option on the Basis of the PD’s Selected Criteria.

In addition to omitting key criteria that should be used to evaluate point of regulation options, the PD errs by improperly evaluating the retail provider and deliverer options on the basis of the criteria that the PD does apply.

1. Legality

The PD concludes that the deliverer option is not preempted by the Federal Power Act. PD at 69. The basis for that finding is that requiring deliverers to be the point of regulation for the electric sector so as to be required to obtain emission allowances is “not directed at wholesale rates or service” that are the focus of the Federal Power Act. PD at 70. The PD errs. The *only* way that emission reductions can be achieved at facilities that deliver imported energy to California under the “deliverer” approach is by directly affecting the wholesale price for the imported electricity. The impact of the envisioned cap-and-trade program on wholesale rates is neither indirect nor ancillary as it is under Clean Air Act regulation. Thus, the “deliverer” program would be preempted.

Furthermore, the envisioned program would be impermissible under the “dormant” Commerce Clause. A program such as the one envisioned in the PD would be declared unlawful as violating the “dormant” Commerce Clause if the burden imposed in interstate commerce were “clearly excessive in relation to the putative local benefits.” *Pike v. Bruce Church, Inc.*, 397 US 137, 142 (1970). The burden of the PD's envisioned program on interstate commerce would be direct, intended, and potentially massive. Not only would wholesale electricity prices be elevated by the need for “deliverers” of electricity to incorporate the cost of allowances into

prices charged in wholesale transactions. Additionally, wholesale prices would be elevated as a consequence of inframarginal “deliverers” raising their wholesale prices in response to marginal “deliverers” raising their wholesale prices to reflect the additional cost of emission allowances.

Conversely, the local benefits to California would be minimal. The PD admits that the cap-and-trade program will “produce a relatively small portion of the overall emission reductions in the short term,” while “a large portion of the emission reductions in the electricity sector will come from investments in energy efficiency and renewable energy.” PD at 33. Thus, the PD’s analysis of the legality of the envisioned cap-and-trade program under the “dormant” Commerce Clause is as erroneous as the PD’s analysis of the preemption issue.

2. Compatibility with Wholesale and Retail Energy Market Reforms

In assessing the retail provider and deliverer options for “compatibility with wholesale and retail energy market reforms,” the PD focuses on the impact each of the options would have on the California Independent System Operator (“CAISO”) Market Reform and Technology Upgrade (“MRTU”) market. PD at 60-65. The PD fails to properly take into account the broader impact that the deliverer option would have on wholesale prices generally, as discussed above. As a result of the failure to recognize that broader impact, the PD analysis of the impact on the MRTU market is flawed.

The PD claims that under the retail provider approach, the CAISO would have less flexibility to schedule resources into the real time or day-ahead MRTU markets on the basis of economic or operational considerations. Instead, the CAISO would be forced to dispatch units that are “self-scheduled due to relatively low GHG emission characteristics.” PD at 64. Insofar as the self-scheduled generation would receive the market clearing price under MRTU, “wholesale prices from low-emission generation would rise....” *Ibid.*

The PD fails to take into account the fact that if deliverers were the point of regulation and, as a result, were required to acquire allowances, the wholesale price charged by marginal deliverers would raise the market clearing price of the wholesale market. As a result, *all* generation that sells into the wholesale market would receive a higher price than would be obtained otherwise. Under a retail provider approach, wholesale prices for self-scheduled low emission generation may rise to the market clearing level, but the market clearing level would not be elevated to reflect the cost of allowances acquired by the marginal generators. Thus,

contrary to the PD's evaluation, the consequences of the deliverer approach for wholesale prices in the CAISO MRTU market as well as short-term wholesale markets generally would be potentially more adverse than the consequence of adopting the retail provider approach, even assuming self-scheduling of low-GHG resources by retail providers that participate in the MRTU market.

3. Accuracy and Ease of Reporting, Tracking, and Verifying Emissions

The PD finds that the retail provider approach is "less preferable" than the deliverer option because it would be "difficult" to track the emissions associated with electricity that retail providers purchased to serve California customers "in the case of purchases from unspecified power plants." PD at 59. The PD observes: "Making the deliverer the point of regulation moves the compliance obligation as close as possible to the generation source, which increases the accuracy of knowledge of GHG emissions attributes to the generation sources." PD at 60. However, moving "the compliance obligation as close as possible to the generation source" does not address the problem of not knowing the emissions associated with unspecified generation. The problem of not knowing the emissions associated with purchases of unspecified power would be the same under the retail provider and deliverer options.

4. Expandability and Compatibility

The PD finds that the retail provider approach would be "least likely to be compatible with the national and regional system," making it the "least preferred" under the "expandability and compatibility" criterion. PD at 57-60. The PD ignores the fact that finding an option to be less expandable so as to preclude it from consideration can be a self-fulfilling prophecy. If California, which dominates the electricity market in the west, were to adopt retail providers as a point of regulation, that adoption would increase the likelihood that California's partners in the Western Climate Initiative ("WCI") would be inclined to adopt a similar approach. The Commission should evaluate point-of-regulation options on the basis of paramount criteria such as fairness, and cost minimization rather than to try to guess about the "compatibility" of any particular option with the assumed preferences of other jurisdictions.

D. SCPPA's Recommendation: Revise the PD to Reverse the Selection of the Deliverer Option.

In light of the improper selection of evaluation criteria and the inappropriate application of the criteria that were utilized in the PD to make a selection from among the point of regulation

options, SCPPA recommends that the PD be revised to reverse the selection of the deliverer option and to adopt the retail provider option.

III. IF THE COMMISSIONS DECLINE TO REVISE THE PD TO ADOPT RETAIL PROVIDERS AS THE POINT OF REGULATION FOR THE CAP-AND-TRADE PROGRAM, THE COMMISSIONS SHOULD CONSIDER DEFERRAL OF THE CAP-AND-TRADE PROGRAM UNTIL THE PROGRAM CAN BE ESTABLISHED ON A WEST-WIDE OR NATIONAL BASIS.

If the Commissions decline to revise the PD to adopt retail providers as a point of regulation for the cap-and-trade program, the Commissions should defer implementation of the program until the program can be established on a west-wide or national basis. Diverse parties supported deferral. As noted in the PD, these parties include Pacific Gas and Electric Company, San Diego Gas & Electric Company, the California Independent System Operator, the Northern California Power Authority, The Utility Reform Network, the Division of Ratepayer Advocates, and the Los Angeles Department of Water and Power. PD at 22-23.

The benefits of prompt implementation of a cap-and-trade program for the electricity sector without awaiting establishment of a cap-and-trade program on a west-wide or national basis are minimal. The PD admits that the cap-and-trade system envisioned in the PD would “only produce a relatively small portion of the overall emission reductions in the short term” with “a large portion of the emission reductions in the electricity sector” coming from the implementation of programmatic measures such as energy efficiency and renewable energy. PD at 33. Furthermore, implementation of a cap-and-trade program for the electricity sector would not reduce costs by permitting regulated entities to have flexibility in meeting their emission caps as was envisioned by the CPUC in D.06-02-032. Under the PD, there would be no individual caps on participants in the cap-and-trade program.

Conversely, the negative consequences of implementing the cap-and-trade program for the electricity sector on anything less than a regional basis are substantial. *First*, there would be a potential for leakage of emissions to jurisdictions that are interconnected with the California grid but which do not have GHG emission regulations. *Second*, the smaller the scope of the multi-sector cap-and-trade program, the more there is a chance for illiquidity and price volatility in the secondary market for allowances. *Third*, if the Commissions decline to await implementation of a regional or national cap-and-trade program, there is a risk of implementing a program that will be inconsistent with whatever might be adopted as a west-wide or national

program. For these reasons and more as set forth in the comments of the numerous and diverse advocates for deferral, SCPPA urges the Commissions to defer implementation of a cap-and-trade program if the Commissions decline to adopt SCPPA's recommendation to designate retail providers as the point of regulation.

IV. IF THE COMMISSIONS DECLINE TO REVISE THE PD TO ADOPT RETAIL PROVIDERS AS THE POINT OF REGULATION FOR THE CAP-AND-TRADE PROGRAM OR TO DEFER THE CAP-AND-TRADE PROGRAM, THE PD SHOULD BE REVISED TO PROVIDE FOR AN ALTERNATIVE COMPLIANCE OPTION FOR RETAIL PROVIDERS THAT ARE ALSO DELIVERERS.

If the Commissions decline to revise the PD to adopt retail providers as the cap-and-trade point of regulation or to defer cap-and-trade, then SCPPA recommends that the Commissions revise the PD to include an alternative compliance option for retail providers that would also be "deliverers" under the dual regulatory approach envisioned in the PD.

In order to avoid the double burden of complying with mandatory energy efficiency and renewable energy mandates while simultaneously paying for allowances to cover emissions associated with deliveries to serve native load, retail providers that are also deliverers should be permitted to elect to be regulated under an alternative compliance mechanism. Specifically, to mitigate the double burden of paying for the programmatic mandates while also paying for allowances to cover emissions associated with deliveries to serve native load, retail providers/deliverers should be permitted to elect to be subject to entity-specific caps and to be relieved of the obligation to acquire allowances to cover emissions associated with deliveries to serve native load up to level of their caps.¹

¹ At least initially, the caps should be set on the basis of recent pre-AB 32 historical emissions associated with deliveries to serve native load as actually experienced by the retail provider/deliverers that elect to be regulated under the alternative compliance option. By setting the entity-specific caps on the basis of recent but pre-AB 32 emissions, the caps would be set so as to give credit for emissions reduction measures that would be undertaken by the retail providers between the date of enactment of AB 32, January 1, 2007, until the effectiveness of AB 32 regulations, January 1, 2012.

Insofar as the cap on a retail provider/deliverer's emissions would decline over time, there is a question about the rate of decline. One option would be to calculate the rate of decline so that a retail provider/deliverer experiences periodic reductions in its cap that are proportional to the decline in allowances available to the multi-sector cap-and-trade market. However, the Commissions may desire to have retail providers that are regulated under the alternative compliance mechanism progress toward greater participation in the cap-and-trade auction and secondary market for emissions and to reduce their reliance on their entity-specific caps. If so, an alternative would be to have the entity-specific caps decline at a rate that would be somewhat faster than the overall decline in allowances for the multi-sector cap-and-trade program.

A faster decline would require the retail provider/deliverers that are regulated under the alternative compliance mechanism to acquire progressively more allowances through an auction or through the cap-and-trade

To the extent to which a retail provider/deliverer that elects to be regulated under the alternative compliance mechanism has emissions associated with deliveries to serve native load that exceed its cap, the retail provider/deliverer would be required to acquire allowances through an auction or through the cap-and-trade secondary market in order to avoid a penalty. Likewise, if the retail provider/deliverer engages in wholesale sales of electricity, the retail provider/deliverer would be required to obtain allowances to cover the emissions associated with the deliveries for wholesale sales. The entity-specific cap that applies to a retail provider/deliverer that elects to be regulated under the alternative compliance mechanism should be based on emissions associated with deliveries to serve the retail provider/deliverer's native load, not deliveries for wholesale sales.

V. THE NATURAL GAS SECTOR SHOULD BE INCLUDED IN ANY MULTI-SECTOR CAP-AND-TRADE PROGRAM.

The PD would allow the natural gas sector to avoid being included in a multi-sector cap-and-trade program. The rationale is that “the natural gas sector has limited ability to substitute different fuel types for natural gas” so that the only “major direct programmatic approach to reducing emissions from the sector... is energy efficiency...” PD at 104-105. On that basis, the PD recommends “that the natural gas sector not be included in a cap-and-trade system at this time.” PD at 106.

The PD's rationale for excluding the natural gas sector from a multi-sector cap-and-trade program is erroneous. In addition to energy efficiency, other measures such as solar water heating are available to reduce natural gas consumption just as there are alternatives to using carbon-based fuels to produce electricity. Thus, if the electricity sector is to be included in a multi-sector cap-and-trade program, the natural gas sector should be included, as well.

VI. CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, SCPPA recommends that the Commissions revise the PD to adopt retail providers as the point of regulation within the electricity sector for both

secondary market to cover the emissions associated with the retail provider/deliverers' emissions associated with service to native load. However, in order to contain the cost consequences of paying for emission allowances while paying for emission reduction programs as well as to contain the potential wealth transfer effect of requiring retail provider/deliverers to pay for allowances, the percentage of emissions associated with deliveries for service to native load that would be required to be covered by auctioned or secondary market allowances should be limited.

programmatic mandates and for participation in a multi-sector cap-and-trade scheme, consistent with SCPPA's recommendation throughout this proceeding.

If the Commissions are disinclined to revise the PD so as to adopt retail providers as the points of regulation, SCPPA recommends that the Commissions revise the PD to defer the cap-and-trade program. Absent deferral, SCPPA recommends that the Commissions revise the PD to provide for an alternative compliance option for retail providers that are also deliverers of electricity to permit the retail providers/deliverers to elect to be subject to retail provider/deliverer-specific caps on emissions associated with deliveries to serve native load so as relieve the retail provider/deliverers of the obligation to obtain allowances to cover emissions under their entity-specific caps.

Lastly, SCPPA recommends that the PD be revised to include the natural gas sector in any multi-sector cap-and-trade program.

Proposed Revisions and Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law to incorporate SCPPA's recommendations into the PD are appended as Appendix A.

Respectfully submitted,

/s/ Norman A. Pedersen

Norman A. Pedersen, Esq.
HANNA AND MORTON LLP
444 South Flower Street, Suite 1500
Los Angeles, California 90071-2916
Telephone: (213) 430-2510
Facsimile: (213) 623-3379
E-mail: *npedersen@hanmor.com*

Attorney for the **SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA
PUBLIC POWER AUTHORITY**

Dated: February 28, 2008

APPENDIX A

SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA PUBLIC POWER AUTHORITY PROPOSED REVISIONS TO FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

I. PROPOSED REVISIONS TO FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW TO REFLECT RETAIL PROVIDERS RATHER THAN “DELIVERERS” AS THE ELECTRIC SECTOR POINT OF REGULATION FOR A MULTI-SECTOR CAP-AND-TRADE PROGRAM.

A. Proposed Revisions to Findings of Fact:

- Revise Finding of Fact 7 as follows:

7. For the electricity sector, a cap-and-trade system with retail providers as the electric sector point of regulation, in conjunction with the continuation and strengthening of existing policies regarding energy efficiency building codes and appliance efficiency standards, retail provider energy efficiency programs, the renewables portfolio standard program, and the emissions performance standard as recommended in this decision, is likely to be a less expensive means of complying with AB 32 GHG emission reduction requirements than sole reliance on existing and increased mandatory programmatic requirements.

- Revise Finding of Fact 8 as follows:

8. For the electricity sector, GHG emissions trading would maximize flexibility in achieving emissions targets by allowing ~~obligated entities~~ capped retail providers to rely on least-cost options across the entire economy.

- Revise Finding of Fact 10 as follows:

10. For the electricity sector, a GHG emissions cap-and-trade program would allow ~~market participants~~ capped retail providers to manage risk associated with compliance obligations.

- Revise Finding of Fact 12 as follows:

12. Implementing a GHG emissions cap-and-trade system in 2012 for the electricity sector would allow ~~entities~~ capped retail providers to gain experience with finding real least-cost GHG emission reduction opportunities.

- Revise Finding of Fact 14 as follows:

14. For the electricity sector, placing the compliance obligation in a GHG emissions cap-and-trade system on ~~the entities that deliver power to the electricity grid in California, which we call “deliverers,”~~ retail providers is reasonable because this point of regulation best meets, on balance, the most important criteria, as described in this decision.

- Revise Finding of Fact 15 as follows:

15. By choosing a ~~deliverer~~ retail provider *point of regulation* we are simply choosing a trigger that determines which entities have to comply, but what is being regulated is the amount of GHGs being produced ~~in California or~~ to supply electricity to customers located in California.

- Revise Finding of Fact 16 as follows:

16. The ~~deliverer~~ retail provider point of regulation does not single out wholesale sales of electricity, but rather applies uniformly to electricity consumed in California ~~and electricity generated in California.~~

- Revise Finding of Fact 17 as follows:

17. An entity with compliance obligations under a ~~deliverer~~ retail provider form of regulation, if it does not already possess enough allowances, would have an opportunity ~~after delivery of the energy~~ to acquire allowances on the market or to show compliance using offsets or other flexible compliance mechanisms.

- Revise Finding of Fact 19 as follows:

19. A ~~deliverer~~ retail provider point of regulation would treat all electricity delivered to the California grid the same, whether that electricity is generated in California or elsewhere. In either case, the ~~deliverer~~ retail provider would later have to surrender GHG allowances (or secure adequate offsets) based on the amount of GHG emissions associated with that electricity.

- Revise Finding of Fact 23 as follows:

23. Any burdens on interstate commerce that may result from the implementation of AB 32 under the regulations that we recommend to ARB (including a ~~deliverer~~ retail provider point of regulation) would be purely incidental, while the local benefits to California of reducing GHG emissions, and therefore the impact of global warming, would be most significant.

- Delete Finding of Fact 26.
- Delete Finding of Fact 27.
- Delete Finding of Fact 32.
- Delete Finding of Fact 34.
- Delete Finding of Fact 35.
- Revise Finding of Fact 40 as follows:

40. It is reasonable for ARB to ~~not~~ include the natural gas sector when designing a multi-sector GHG emissions cap-and-trade system for California, for implementation in 2012, as described in this decision.

B. Proposed Revisions to Conclusions of Law:

- Delete Conclusion of Law 4.
- Delete Conclusion of Law 5.
- Delete Conclusion of Law 6.
- Delete Conclusion of Law 7.
- Delete Conclusion of Law 8.
- Delete Conclusion of Law 9.
- Delete Conclusion of Law 10.
- Revise Conclusion of Law 13 as follows:

13. The proposed ~~deliverer~~ retail provider point of regulation would not conflict with the FPA's electric reliability provisions.

- Revise Conclusion of Law 14 as follows

14. A ~~deliverer~~ retail provider point of regulation is not preempted by the FPA.

- Revise Conclusion of Law 17 as follows:

17. The use of a ~~deliverer~~ retail provider point of regulation would not violate the dormant Commerce Clause.

- Revise Conclusion of Law 18 as follows:

18. The ~~deliverer~~ retail provider point of regulation would only regulate electricity that is generated in, or delivered for consumption in, California. Thus, it

would not regulate any commerce that occurs totally outside of California, and therefore would not regulate extraterritorially in violation of the Commerce Clause.

- Revise Conclusion of Law 20 as follows:

20. Our recommended ~~deliverer~~ retail provider point of regulation would not cover power that is merely wheeled through California.

II. PROPOSED REVISIONS OF FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW TO REFLECT DEFERRAL OF IMPLEMENTATION OF A CAP-AND-TRADE PROGRAM.

A. Proposed New Findings of Fact:

- The benefits of prompt implementation of a cap-and-trade program for the electric sector without awaiting establishment of a cap-and-trade program on a west-wide or national basis are minimal.
- Implementation of a cap-and-trade program for the electric sector would not reduce costs by permitting regulated entities to have flexibility in meeting their emission caps unless there are individual caps on regulated entities.
- The negative consequences of implementing a cap-and-trade program for the electricity sector on anything less than a regional basis are substantial.

III. PROPOSED REVISIONS OF FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW TO REFLECT ADOPTION OF AN ALTERNATIVE COMPLIANCE MECHANISM:

A. Proposed New Findings of Fact:

- In order to avoid the double burden of complying with mandatory energy efficiency and renewable energy mandates while simultaneously paying for allowances to cover emissions associated with deliveries to serve native load, retail providers that are also deliverers should be permitted to elect to be regulated under an alternative compliance mechanism.
- To eliminate the double burden of paying for programmatic mandates while also paying for allowances to cover emissions associated with deliveries to serve native load, retail providers that are also deliverers should be permitted to elect to be subject to entity-specific caps on emissions associated with deliveries to serve native load and to be relieved of the obligation to require allowances for emissions up to the level of the entity-specific caps.

- To the extent to which a retail provider/deliverer that elects to be regulated under the alternative compliance mechanism has emissions associated with deliveries to serve native load that exceed the cap or has emissions associated with deliveries for wholesale sales, the retail provider/deliverer should be required to acquire allowances through an auction or through the cap-and-trade secondary market in order to avoid paying a penalty.

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that I have this day served a copy of the **SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA PUBLIC POWER AUTHORITY COMMENT ON PROPOSED DECISION** on the service list for CPUC Docket No. R.06-04-009 and CEC Docket No. 07-OIIP-01 by serving a copy to each party by electronic mail and/or by mailing a properly addressed copy by first-class mail with postage prepaid.

Executed on February 28, 2008, at Los Angeles, California.

/s/ Sylvia Cantos

Sylvia Cantos

**R.06-04-009 SERVICE LIST
DOCKET 07-OHP-01 SERVICE LIST**

abb@eslawfirm.com
abonds@thelen.com
achang@nrdc.org
adamb@greenlining.org
aeg@cpuc.ca.gov
agc@cpuc.ca.gov
agrimaldi@mckennalong.com
ahendrickson@commerceenergy.com
aimee.barnes@ecosecurities.com
ajkatz@mwe.com
akbar.jazayeri@sce.com
akelly@climatetrust.org
alan.comnes@nrgenergy.com
aldyn.hoekstra@paceglobal.com
alex.kang@itron.com
alho@pge.com
amber@ethree.com
andrew.bradford@constellation.com
andrew.mcallister@energycenter.org
andy.vanhorn@vhcenergy.com
anita.hart@swgas.com
annabelle.malins@fco.gov.uk
apak@sempraglobal.com
arno@recurrentenergy.com
atrial@sempra.com
atrowbridge@daycartermurphy.com
Audra.Hartmann@Dynegy.com
aweller@sel.com
ayk@cpuc.ca.gov
bbaker@summitblue.com
bbc@cpuc.ca.gov
bbeebe@smud.org
bblevins@energy.state.ca.us
bcragg@goodinmacbride.com
bdicapo@caiso.com
bernardo@braunlegal.com
beth@beth411.com
Betty.Seto@kema.com
bill.chen@constellation.com
bill.schrand@swgas.com
bjeider@ci.burbank.ca.us
bjl@bry.com
bjones@mjb Bradley.com
bkc7@pge.com
blm@cpuc.ca.gov
bmcc@mccarthy law.com

bmcquown@reliant.com
Bob.lucas@calobby.com
bpotts@foley.com
bpurewal@water.ca.gov
brabe@umich.edu
brbarkovich@earthlink.net
brbc@pge.com
brenda.lemay@horizonwind.com
burtraw@rff.org
bushinskyj@pewclimate.org
bwallerstein@aqmd.gov
bwetstone@hotmail.com
C_Marnay@lbl.gov
cadams@covantaenergy.com
californiadockets@pacificorp.com
carla.peterman@gmail.com
carter@ieta.org
case.admin@sce.com
cathy.karlstad@sce.com
cbaskette@enernoc.com
cbreidenich@yahoo.com
cchen@ucsusa.org
cem@newsdata.com
cf1@cpuc.ca.gov
cft@cpuc.ca.gov
charlie.blair@delta-ee.com
chilen@sppc.com
cjlw5@pge.com
ckmitchell1@sbcglobal.net
ckrupka@mwe.com
clarence.binninger@doj.ca.gov
clark.bernier@rlw.com
clyde.murley@comcast.net
cmkehrrein@ems-ca.com
colin.petheram@att.com
cpe@cpuc.ca.gov
cpechman@powereconomics.com
cswoolums@midamerican.com
curt.barry@iwpnews.com
curtis.kebler@gs.com
cweddington@commerceenergy.com
Cynthia.A.Fonner@constellation.com
cynthia.schultz@pacificorp.com
daking@sempra.com
Dan.adler@calcef.org
danskopec@gmail.com

dansvec@hdo.net
dave@ppallc.com
david.zonana@doj.ca.gov
david@branchcomb.com
david@nemtzw.com
davidreynolds@ncpa.com
dbrooks@nevp.com
deborah.slone@doj.ca.gov
dehling@kling.com
derek@climaterestry.org
dhecht@sempratrading.com
dhuard@manatt.com
Diane_Fellman@fpl.com
dietrichlaw2@earthlink.net
dil@cpuc.ca.gov
dkk@eslawfirm.com
dks@cpuc.ca.gov
dmacmull@water.ca.gov
dmetz@energy.state.ca.us
dniehaus@semprautilities.com
douglass@energyattorney.com
dseperas@calpine.com
dsh@cpuc.ca.gov
dsoyars@sppc.com
dtibbs@aes4u.com
dwang@nrhc.org
dwood8@cox.net
dws@r-c-s-inc.com
echiang@elementmarkets.com
edm@cpuc.ca.gov
edwardoneill@dwt.com
egw@a-klaw.com
ehadley@reupower.com
ej_wright@oxy.com
ek@a-klaw.com
ekgrubaugh@iid.com
eks@cpuc.ca.gov
ELL5@pge.com
elvine@lbl.gov
emahlon@ecoact.org
emello@sppc.com
epoole@adplaw.com
e-recipient@caiso.com
etiedemann@kmtg.com
ewolfe@resero.com
ez@pointcarbon.com
farrokh.albuyeh@oati.net
fiji.george@elpaso.com
filings@a-klaw.com
fjs@cpuc.ca.gov

fstern@summitblue.com
fwmonier@tid.org
gbarch@knowledgeinenergy.com
gblue@enxco.com
gcollord@arb.ca.gov
george.hopley@barcap.com
ghinners@reliant.com
GloriaB@anzaelectric.org
glw@eslawfirm.com
gmorris@emf.net
gpickering@navigantconsulting.com
gregory.koiser@constellation.com
grosenblum@caiso.com
gsmith@adamsbroadwell.com
GXL2@pge.com
harveyederpspc.org@hotmail.com
hayley@turn.org
hchronin@water.ca.gov
hgolub@nixonpeabody.com
hoerner@redefiningprogress.org
hurlock@water.ca.gov
HYao@SempraUtilities.com
hym@cpuc.ca.gov
info@calseia.org
Jairam.gopal@sce.com
james.keating@bp.com
janill.richards@doj.ca.gov
jarmstrong@goodinmacbride.com
jason.dubchak@niskags.com
jbf@cpuc.ca.gov
jbw@slwplc.com
jchamberlin@strategicenergy.com
jci@cpuc.ca.gov
JDF1@PGE.COM
jdh@eslawfirm.com
jdoll@arb.ca.gov
jeanne.sole@sfgov.org
jeffgray@dwt.com
jen@cnt.org
jenine.schenk@apses.com
jennifer.porter@energycenter.org
JerryL@abag.ca.gov
jesus.arredondo@nrgenergy.com
jf2@cpuc.ca.gov
jgill@caiso.com
jgreco@terra-genpower.com
jhahn@covantaenergy.com
jholtkamp@hollandhart.com
jimross@r-c-s-inc.com
jj.prucnal@swgas.com

jjensen@kirkwood.com
jk1@cpuc.ca.gov
jkarp@winston.com
jkloberdanz@semprautilities.com
jlaun@apogee.net
jleslie@luce.com
jluckhardt@downeybrand.com
jm3@cpuc.ca.gov
jnm@cpuc.ca.gov
jody_london_consulting@earthlink.net
Joe.paul@dynegey.com
john.hughes@sce.com
johnredding@earthlink.net
jol@cpuc.ca.gov
josephhenri@hotmail.com
joyw@mid.org
jsanders@caiso.com
jscancarelli@flk.com
jsqueri@gmsr.com
jst@cpuc.ca.gov
jtp@cpuc.ca.gov
julie.martin@bp.com
jwiedman@goodinmacbride.com
jwmctarnaghan@duanemorris.com
jwmctarnaghan@duanemorris.com
jxa2@pge.com
karen@klindh.com
karla.dailey@cityofpaloalto.org
Kathryn.Wig@nrgenergy.com
kbowen@winston.com
kcolburn@symbioticstrategies.com
kdusel@navigantconsulting.com
kdw@woodruff-expert-services.com
keith.mccrea@sablax.com
kellie.smith@sen.ca.gov
kelly.barr@srpnet.com
ken.alex@doj.ca.gov
ken.alex@doj.ca.gov
kenneth.swain@navigantconsulting.com
kerry.hattevik@mirant.com
kevin.boudreaux@calpine.com
kfox@wsgr.com
kgough@calpine.com
kgrenfell@nrdc.org
kgriffin@energy.state.ca.us
kjinovation@earthlink.net
kjsimonsen@ems-ca.com
kkhoja@thelenreid.com
klatt@energyattorney.com
kmills@cbbf.com

kmkiener@fox.net
kowalewskia@calpine.com
krd@cpuc.ca.gov
kyle.l.davis@pacificorp.com
kyle.silon@ecosecurities.com
kyle_boudreaux@fpl.com
lars@resource-solutions.org
Laura.Genao@sce.com
lcottle@winston.com
ldecarlo@energy.state.ca.us
leilani.johnson@ladwp.com
liddell@energyattorney.com
lisa.c.schwartz@state.or.us
lisa_weinzimer@platts.com
llorenz@semprautilities.com
llund@commerceenergy.com
lmh@eslawfirm.com
Lorraine.Paskett@ladwp.com
lpark@navigantconsulting.com
lrdevanna-rf@cleanenergysystems.com
lrm@cpuc.ca.gov
lschavrien@semprautilities.com
ltenhope@energy.state.ca.us
ltt@cpuc.ca.gov
marcel@turn.org
marcie.milner@shell.com
mary.lynch@constellation.com
mclaughlin@braunlegal.com
mday@goodinmacbride.com
mdjoseph@adamsbroadwell.com
mflorio@turn.org
mgarcia@arb.ca.gov
mgillette@enernoc.com
mhyams@sflower.org
Mike@alpinenaturalgas.com
mjd@cpuc.ca.gov
mmattes@nossaman.com
mmazur@3phasesRenewables.com
mona@landsiteinc.net
monica.schwebs@bingham.com
mpa@a-klaw.com
mpryor@energy.state.ca.us
mrw@mrwassoc.com
mscheibl@arb.ca.gov
mwaugh@arb.ca.gov
nenbar@energy-insights.com
ner@cpuc.ca.gov
nes@a-klaw.com
nlenssen@energy-insights.com
norman.furuta@navy.mil

notice@psrec.coop
npedersen@hanmor.com
nsuetake@turn.org
ntronaas@energy.state.ca.us
nwhang@manatt.com
obartho@smud.org
obystrom@cera.com
ofoote@hkcf-law.com
pbarthol@energy.state.ca.us
pburmich@arb.ca.gov
pduvair@energy.state.ca.us
pepper@cleanpowermarkets.com
phanschén@mofo.com
Philip.H.Carver@state.or.us
philm@scdenergy.com
pjazayeri@stroock.com
ppettingill@caiso.com
psp@cpuc.ca.gov
pssed@adelphia.net
pstoner@lgc.org
pthompson@summitblue.com
pvallen@thelen.com
pw1@cpuc.ca.gov
pzs@cpuc.ca.gov
rachel@ceert.org
ralph.dennis@constellation.com
ram@cpuc.ca.gov
randy.howard@ladwp.com
randy.sable@swgas.com
rapcowart@aol.com
ray.welch@navigantconsulting.com
rhelgeson@scppa.org
RHHJ@pge.com
rhwiser@lbl.gov
richards@mid.org
rick_noger@praxair.com
rita@ritanortonconsulting.com
rkeen@manatt.com
rkmoore@gswater.com
rmccann@umich.edu
rmiller@energy.state.ca.us
rmm@cpuc.ca.gov
rmorillo@ci.burbank.ca.us
robert.pettinato@ladwp.com
Robert.Rozanski@ladwp.com
roger.montgomery@swgas.com
rogerv@mid.org
ron.deaton@ladwp.com
rprince@semprautilities.com
reinhard@mofo.com

rrtaylor@srpnet.com
rsa@a-klaw.com
rschmidt@bartlewells.com
rsmutny-jones@caiso.com
rwinthrop@pilotpowergroup.com
ryan.flynn@pacificorp.com
S1L7@pge.com
saeed.farrokhpay@ferc.gov
samuel.r.sadler@state.or.us
sandra.carolina@swgas.com
Sandra.ely@state.nm.us
sas@a-klaw.com
sasteriadis@apx.com
sbeatty@cwclaw.com
sberlin@mccarthyllaw.com
sbeserra@sbcglobal.net
scarter@nrdc.org
scohn@smud.org
scott.tomashefsky@ncpa.com
scottanders@sandiego.edu
scr@cpuc.ca.gov
sdhilton@stoel.com
SEHC@pge.com
sellis@fypower.org
sendo@ci.pasadena.ca.us
sephra.ninow@energycenter.org
sgm@cpuc.ca.gov
slins@ci.glendale.ca.us
sls@a-klaw.com
smichel@westernresources.org
smindel@knowledgeinenergy.com
smk@cpuc.ca.gov
snewsom@semprautilities.com
spauker@wsgr.com
sscb@pge.com
ssmyers@att.net
steve.koerner@elpaso.com
steve@schiller.com
stevek@kromer.com
steven.huhman@morganstanley.com
steven.schleimer@barclayscapital.com
steven@iepa.com
steven@lipmanconsulting.com
steven@moss.net
svn@cpuc.ca.gov
svongdeuane@semprasolutions.com
svs6@pge.com
tam@cpuc.ca.gov
tburke@sfwater.org
tcarlson@reliant.com

tcx@cpuc.ca.gov
tdarton@pilotpowergroup.com
tdillard@sppc.com
THAMILTON5@CHARTER.NET
thunt@cecmail.org
tiffany.rau@bp.com
tim.hemig@nrgenergy.com
todil@mckennalong.com
Tom.Elgie@powerex.com
tomb@crossborderenergy.com
tomk@mid.org
trdill@westernhubs.com
troberts@sempra.com
UHelman@caiso.com

vb@pointcarbon.com
vitaly.lee@aes.com
vjw3@pge.com
vprabhakaran@goodinmacbride.com
vwelch@environmentaldefense.org
wbooth@booth-law.com
westgas@aol.com
william.tomlinson@elpaso.com
wsm@cpuc.ca.gov
wtasat@arb.ca.gov
www@eslawfirm.com
wynne@braunlegal.com
ygross@sempraglobal.com
zaiontj@bp.com